## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.: SC03-1856

Lower Tribunal Nos.: 3D00-3400, 3D00-3206, 3D-00-3207,

3D00-3208, 3D00-3210, 3D00-3212,

3D00-3215

HOWARD A. ENGLE, M.D., et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

LIGGETT GROUP, INC., et al.,

Resp	ondents.	

# PETITIONERS, FLORIDA ENGLE CLASS, BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STANLEY M. ROSENBLATT, P.A. 66 West Flagler Street 12th Floor, Concord Building Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 374-6131

Stanley M. Rosenblatt, Esquire Fla. Bar No.: 068445

Susan Rosenblatt, Esquire Fla. Bar No.: 142163

Class Counsel

## **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

- I. Whether Post-judgment Decertification, Following a Two-year Trial, Violates Basic Principles of Class Action Law and Strips Floridians of Any Viable Remedy Against the Tobacco Industry, in Violation of Due Process of Law under the Florida and Federal Constitutions?
  - A. Whether The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Broad Discretion in Denying Tobacco's Post-trial Motion to Decertify the Class?
  - B. Whether A Class Action Serves the Public Interest?
- II. Whether Extinguishment of All Punitive Damages Claims for Floridians Is a Misapplication of Res Judicata and Violates Due Process?
  - A. Whether The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Broad Discretion in Instructing the Jury as to the Applicability of the Master Settlement Agreement and Florida Settlement Agreement? -- Whether The Instructions, as a Whole, Were Fair and Complete?
- III. Whether The Trifurcated Trial Plan Was Within the Broad Discretion of the Trial Judge and Comports with Due Process? -- Whether Requiring Individual Compensatory Damages Awards as Predicates for Individual Punitive Damages Awards, Was Error?
- IV. Whether The District Court Misapplied Florida and Federal Law Governing of Review of a Punitive Damages Award Challenged as Excessive?
  - A. Whether The District Court Improperly Sat as the Seventh Juror on Contested Issues as to Each Tobacco Company's Financial Resources and Ability to Pay a Punitive Damages Award?
- V. Whether The Three Verdicts and Judgment Against Liggett and Brooke are Fully Supported by the Evidence?

- VI. Whether Post-judgment Narrowing of Class, and Ordering That Defense Judgments Be Entered in Favor of Defendants, Against the Three Class Representatives, Was Error?
- VII. Whether Comments of Counsel Did Not Interfere with the Jury's Deliberations and Decisions?

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The district court decertified the Florida Class and reversed the final judgment entered pursuant to three jury verdicts in this two-year trifurcated trial in which the jury considered thousands of tobacco documents and the testimony of 157 witnesses.

The evidence presented during the trial portrayed decades of fraud and deceit by the tobacco industry, including the intentional targeting of children for tobacco use, deliberate engineering of its product to create life-long addictions, and its conspiracy of misinformation to undermine the work of public health officials. The evidence in the two-year trial was so compelling that the trial judge wrote:

If one really examined the entire record in detail of the decades of abuses committed by the defendants upon an ill-informed and unsuspecting public, one could say it was that concerted behavior on the part of the defendants, over so many years, affecting so many people, that "shocks the conscience of the court," not the award itself.

Engle F.J. at \*16 (A.3-4) (emphasis in original).<sup>1</sup>

The trial court, based on a "mountain of evidence" concluded: "[A]fter sitting for two solid years in trial, it is inconceivable that this jury ignored or misconceived the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Engle v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco, 2000 WL 33534572 (Fla. Cir. Ct.) shall be referred to as Engle F.J. (the Final Judgment and Amended Omnibus Order of November 6, 2000) (A.3-4). Liggett Group, Inc. v. Engle, 853 So.2d 434 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003), shall be referred to as Engle II (A.1). R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. Engle, 672 So.2d 39 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), shall be referred to as Engle I (A.2). The Appendix shall be referred to as "A."

evidence or the merits of the case." *Engle F.J.* at 31. The court below, however, disregarded the findings of the trial court and denigrated the jury's efforts, labeling them a "runaway jury" that "ran amuck", "obviously swept along in lemming-like fashion." *Engle II* at 466-67.

The district court disregarded the evidence and distorted the law. It granted immunity to an industry that "kill[s] more people in this country every year than AIDS, car accidents, alcohol, homicides, illegal drugs, suicides and fires combined." FDA v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 529 U.S. 120, 162 (2000) (Breyer, J. dissenting). The district court decertified the Class post-judgment, after seven years of litigation and after its own 1996 affirmance of a state-wide class. It also extinguished all punitive damages claims based on settlements of unrelated actions brought by Florida and other states for reimbursement of Medicaid expenditures, thereby stripping all Floridians of their claims for punitive damages. The district court opinion retroactively narrowed the *Engle* Class, and ordered that judgments be entered against class representatives whose causes of action arose after the new cut-off date, potentially barring the claims of thousands of Floridians who relied upon the class certification, Engle I and Broin v. Philip Morris, 641 So.2d 888 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). The opinion should be quashed and the verdicts and judgment reinstated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On May 5, 1994, Petitioners filed a class action on behalf of sick smokers and their survivors against the tobacco industry. A nationwide class was certified on October 31, 1994 as to all compensatory and punitive damages claims and the district court affirmed on January 31, 1996, but reduced the Class to Florida citizens and residents. *See Engle I* at 41, holding that "our recent decision in *Broin*, involving a similar products liability class action against various tobacco companies clearly compels this result." In reducing the national class action to a state class action, the district court held:

[W]e conclude that the subject class should simply be reduced to manageable proportions, namely, that the class should be restricted to Florida citizens and residents, rather than United States citizens and residents. In our view, this restriction will drastically reduce the number of class members so that the Florida judiciary can efficiently manage the litigation without undue burden to the taxpayers. . . . [W]ith this modification, the order appealed from is Affirmed.

672 So.2d at 42. Relying on that opinion, legal notice was given to all Floridians, a two-year trial ensued and a final judgment was entered.

On appeal, the district court reversed its earlier decision, decertified the class, barred all punitive damages, found the trial plan "unconstitutional" and in violation of

the *Engle I* mandate<sup>2</sup>, ordered that judgments be entered against three class representatives, and acknowledged that "the fate. . . of close to a million Florida residents" rests on these proceedings. *Engle II* at 470.

#### A. A Brief Summary of the Two-Year Evidentiary Record.<sup>3</sup>

American Public. When faced with the growing evidence that tobacco was linked with cancer, each of the tobacco defendants<sup>4</sup> met in New York City in 1954, with their public relations consultant, Hill & Knowlton, and published a full page *Frank Statement to Cigarette Smokers* in January, 1954, in over 400 newspapers throughout the United States (T.27344; 32323; 32650; 32651; PX 3057); (A.55). *A Frank Statement to Cigarette Smokers* was, frankly, a lie (T.18751-55). The tobacco

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>But in 1999 this same court ruled the opposite, denying defendants' motion to enforce mandate, in *R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. Engle*, 784 So.2d 1124 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), having *sua sponte* vacated its earlier order that the trial plan did violate the mandate. *R.J. Reynolds Tobacco v. Engle*, 806 So.2d 503 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The Class relies upon the trial court's detailed summary of the evidence in its Final Judgment and Amended Omnibus Order (A.3-4). Due to space constraints, the Class includes an abbreviated summary of the evidence during the two-year trial. A more detailed recitation of the facts is contained within the Class' Answer Brief in the district court (A.6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Although Liggett was not part of the meeting and the formation of the Tobacco Industry Research Committee, it joined in 1964 and its counsel, Frederick Haas, became a member of the Ad Hoc Committee of Special Projects of TIRC. (PX 1993; PM 400; R.65822).

industry falsely asserted that cigarettes "are not injurious to health" when their own pre-1954 research established that cigarettes presented serious health risks for lung cancer and other diseases (T.13477-78; 13526-27; 13565; 13575; PX 78).

The cover-up continued when the companies pledged to support independent scientific research through the Tobacco Industry Research Committee [TIRC], later known as the Council for Tobacco Research [CTR], to find answers for the American public as to whether smoking cigarettes causes disease. Instead, TIRC and later CTR functioned as a front for tobacco, reassuring the public that smoking was safe, and undermining the work of public health officials (T.16607; 16651-52; 27234-35; 27254-55; PX 3416; PM 445). CTR formed a Special Projects Division, run by private counsel for each tobacco company, whose purpose was to fund scientific research to defend litigation brought by smokers against tobacco companies, and to hide unfavorable scientific research under the attorney/client privilege (T.27210; PX 1993; 4559; PM 425). CTR pressured researchers to avoid implicating tobacco as a cause of disease or death (T.17926-27; 17947-48) and members of CTR became spokespersons for the Industry, appearing in public forums and challenging the growing scientific research linking tobacco to disease (T.10917-18).

Defendants formed the Tobacco Institute [TI] in 1958, to serve as an advocate for the Industry in civic programs and in the media, again denying that cigarettes

caused any diseases or were addictive, despite mounting evidence to the contrary (T.12592-94; 16446; 16753-56; 18582; PX 1071; PX-PI 213). Former U.S. Surgeon General Julius Richmond testified that the TI undermined the issuance of his 1979 Surgeon General's Report by ridiculing the Report at defendants' press conference scheduled the day prior to the Surgeon General's Report's release. TI published its own report, *Smoking and Health: The Continuing Controversy*. (T.11234-35).

The Tobacco Industry, in concert, nurtured a fraudulent debate about tobacco and health, although their own internal tobacco documents established that each defendant knew that cigarettes caused disease and death and that nicotine was highly addictive (T.488-89; 14890-91; 18249; 18341; 21279-80); (A.37-39). Bennett Lebow, the principal of Liggett and Brooke, testified about the "party line" on smoking and health issues -- that he and other tobacco company officials had conspired to lie to public health authorities and the American public for decades (T.13831-39; 13981). Each of the CEOs of the tobacco companies continued the "party line" through Phase I of the trial, testifying that nicotine is not addictive, that any smoker who wants to quit can quit cold turkey, and that cigarettes do not cause lung cancer or any other disease. (T.16246-47; 20798; 20284; 19987; 20901). An official at TI was asked "What percentage of lung cancer victims do you think are smokers?" and he responded "I don't know if any are." (T.20039). The CEO of R.J. Reynolds testified that "It has

never been proven that cigarette smoking has caused a single person to die." (T.16250). When asked if heavy smoking has ever been the cause of any lung cancer deaths, Andrew Tisch, the then Chairman/CEO of Lorillard Tobacco responded "I take the position it has not been proven in a single case." (T.14227) According to the Chairman of Liggett, "I don't believe a woman's health or 'offspring' are going to be affected one iota if she smoked up until the day she gave birth to her child." (T.20967) And according to the Chairman/CEO of CTR, "There is no scientific basis to say smoking causes certain diseases." (T.19863).

Defendants conspired to replace dying smokers with children, systematically targeting children for decades and conspiring to interfere with the efforts of the public health communities in educating children about the dangers of smoking (T.12052-54; 12058; 12129-33; 16324; 16326-28; 17573-79; PX 3013; 4761; 4744; 3024; 3025; 3026; 3016; (A.36, 40). The majority of smokers start at approximately fourteen years of age and lack the maturity to understand the consequences of their actions. (T.22078-79; 12128-33; 12044-45; 12063-64; 12082; 13697-98; 11974-75; 16643-48; 17210; 22078-79; 20943; PX 3208). One R.J. Reynolds representative boasted "[T]he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The Class presented testimony from public health officials, including former U.S. Surgeons General, that cigarette smoking resulted in the deaths of approximately 430,000 Americans and over 30,000 Floridians each year. (T.11192-95; 11200; 13289-90; 14201; 15277-78; 16639-40; 22075; PX 29, A.34-36).

base of our business is the high school student." (PX 947; A. 40).

Public health officials were decades behind the Tobacco Industry in recognizing that nicotine is a highly addictive drug, even more addictive than heroin and cocaine (T. 12283; 13747-48; 11495-96; 12015; 13560). The Industry's early knowledge of addiction was not shared with public health officials, despite the industry's promise in *A Frank Statement* (T. 11559; 12028-30; 13557-58; 13546-47).

Tobacco internal documents revealed that since the 1950's, the industry knew that nicotine is an addictive drug (T. 13546-47; 13557-59; 13477-78; 13505; 13562; PX 3198; 545; 835; 3172; 1950); that cigarettes are a nicotine delivery device (T. 11985-88; 12009-10; 12011; PX 1950; 3280; 3411), and a dispenser for a dose of nicotine (T.12403-04). The companies knew a cigarette pack is a day's supply of nicotine and a storage container for nicotine (T.16432; 18561-64; PX 9) and that people smoke for nicotine. (T.16375; 16480-81; 17727; PX 3262; 3217; 3182; 3198).

Internal tobacco documents further revealed that for decades the industry knew that nicotine addiction can be maintained and enhanced through cigarette design and the manipulation of levels of nicotine (T. 13471-72; 10893; 13475-76; PX 3128; 3383; 264; 249; 250; 3385; 252; 3152; 3084; 3220; CA 96). Defendants also knew for decades that health conscious smokers would be captured by low tar, low nicotine products, although the tobacco industry knew that these products were not safer and

could actually be more dangerous (T.13475-79; 13487; 13505; 13621-22; 13630; PX 3086; 3182; 3072; 3021; 514; 3413; 5323; 14970; 15402; 15411-12; 15992-93). There was technology to design a safer cigarette with less nicotine (T. 11988-89; 11989-90; 11996; 12092-93; PX 1817; 3217), or no nicotine (T. 17084).

Recognizing the need for replacement smokers for those smokers that had died or quit, defendants' lower yield cigarettes provided fraudulent health assurances to smokers and persuaded would-be quitters to keep smoking (T.16326; 16328; 11739-40; 12263; 12064-68; PX 481; 4473; 4530; 4593). Low tar/low nicotine cigarettes were designed to deliver the same amount of tar and nicotine as the high yield, although falsely promoted to do the opposite (T. 13239; PX 3185; 3164; 3140; 3017; 5199; 3215; 3286; 3288; 3213). The companies manipulated levels of nicotine and the dose of nicotine by altering the pH of the cigarettes, thereby converting the nicotine to the free form and creating a greater addictive effect on smokers (T.13612; 13613-14; 13617; 14926-28). For over thirty years the tobacco companies, unknown to the public health community, had researched and altered the chemical forms of nicotine in order to increase the percentage of free base nicotine delivered to smokers (T. 13477-78; PX 3080; 3017; 3385; 3433; 3215; 3056; 3293; 3062; 3213; 291).

Whenever internal tobacco research showed promise in developing a safer cigarette, the projects were either promptly terminated or shipped overseas to Germany

or Switzerland, to hide them (T.17745-54; 17776-80; 18258; 14879; 14897; 14909-13; 15426-27; 16011; 16016-17; 16024). Defendants systematically destroyed all tobacco research and documents that implicated cigarettes as a serious health risk and cause of disease (T.14913-14; 14929-30; 15386-88; 15389). There was a "gentlemen's agreement" among the companies that there would be no testing of production cigarettes (those cigarettes actually smoked) within the United States and all such testing must be conducted in Europe to keep it secret. (T.29404; 36705-06; 36712-13; 36741-43; 14913-14; PX 26; 4600). United States data and research were destroyed or shipped abroad and adverse surveys were hidden (T.15382; 15386-89; 15450-51; 15424; 14913-14; 14929-30; 25175). The tobacco industry confounded and obfuscated science in a fashion that was destructive and abusive to the scientific process. (T.23007; 22107; 23084; 23090-91). The industry attacked valid scientific studies linking tobacco with disease (T.23078) and deliberately misled the public health community (T.13547).

2. The Phase I Verdict. The Jury deliberated for seven days and answered ten questions with 242 subparts (A.3a). The jury found that 24 diseases, including subcategories, were caused from smoking cigarettes but that asthmatic bronchitis, infertility and bronchioloalveolar carcinoma (BAC), a type of lung cancer, were not. The jury further found that the defendants' cigarettes were "defective and

unreasonably dangerous"; that each of the defendants (i) made a false statement of material fact with the intention of misleading smokers; (ii) concealed or omitted material information or failed to disclose a material fact concerning or proving the health effects and/or addictive nature of smoking cigarettes; (iii) entered into an agreement to misrepresent information relating to the health effects of cigarette smoking or the addictive nature of smoking cigarettes with the intention that smokers and members of the public rely to their detriment; (iv) entered into an agreement to conceal or omit information regarding the health effects of cigarette smoking or the addictive nature of smoking cigarettes with the intention that smokers and members of the public rely to their detriment; (v) engaged in extreme and outrageous conduct or with reckless disregard relating to cigarettes sold or supplied to Florida smokers with the intent to inflict severe emotional distress; (vi) and that defendants' conduct rose to a level to permit an award of punitive damages (A.3b).

3. Phases IIA and II B. The jury considered the compensatory damages claims of class representatives Mary Farnan, Angie Della Vecchia and Frank Amodeo, three long-term heavy smokers. Farnan started smoking at age 10 and contracted lung cancer in 1995. Defendants asserted her lung cancer was BAC, a lung cancer the jury found in Phase I was not caused from smoking. (T.40224-25; 40240) Della Vecchia started smoking at age 11 and died in 1999 from lung cancer that

metastasized to her brain. Defendants asserted it was scar tissue rather than cigarettes that caused her lung cancer and death (T.42681-82). Amodeo was diagnosed with laryngeal cancer in 1987 and has had nothing to eat or drink by mouth since that time, receiving all nourishment through a feeding tube (T.41336; 41339; 41351). Defendants asserted that it was "wood dust" that caused his throat cancer. (T.38740; 41360). The jury awarded compensatory damages to each of the class representatives, tempered by findings of comparative fault (A.3b).

In the punitive damages phase defendants withdrew all financial experts as to the company's financial resources and ability to pay. The trial court noted:

[N]one of the defendants produced an "expert" witness. The Court would have welcomed and. . . valued the opinions of defendants' financial experts, and/or corporate financial officers. This would have been a great help in resolving, not only for the Court, but also the jury, the financial condition of the various defendants' companies.

Engle F.J. at \*22. The jury found each defendant liable in differing amounts for a total of \$144,871,473,549.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court should review *de novo* each of the rulings of the district court. *Escobar v. State*, 699 So.2d 988, 995 (Fla. 1997). All factual determinations by the trial court should have been subject to an abuse of discretion standard. The district court erroneously applied a *de novo* standard of review. This Court should apply an

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