IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC03-1856

Lower Tribunal Nos. 3D00-3400, 3D00-3206, 3D00-3207, 3D00-3208, 3D00-3210, 3D00-3212, 3D00-3215

HOWARD A. ENGLE, M.D., et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

LIGGETT GROUP INC., et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENTS LIGGETT GROUP INC. AND BROOKE GROUP HOLDING INC.

Alvin B. Davis, P.A. Fla. Bar No. 218073 STEEL HECTOR & DAVIS LLP 200 South Biscayne Blvd. Miami, Florida 33131-2398 (305) 577-2835

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

Young Chin v. City of Homestead, 597 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992)..... 10

STATUTES

Respondents Liggett Group Inc. ("Liggett") and Brooke Group Holding Inc. ("Brooke") (together, the "Liggett defendants") respectfully submit this answer brief on the merits concerning issues raised by petitioners ("plaintiffs") that are specific to the Liggett defendants. The Liggett defendants also adopt and incorporate herein by reference the points and arguments set forth in the Brief On The Merits Of All Respondents Other Than Liggett And Brooke ("Combined Brief").

INTRODUCTION

The Third District correctly determined that this "class action" trial, rife with procedural, substantive and constitutional errors, was a miscarriage of justice, particularly for the Liggett defendants. The trial court permitted plaintiffs' counsel -- using highly improper argument and guilt-by-association -- to convince the jury to award \$790 million in punitive damages against the Liggett defendants, an amount 23 times Liggett's net worth. However, as the Third District correctly held, there was no evidence at trial upon which any liability against the Liggett defendants could be based, much less a bankrupting punitive damage award. Plaintiffs' argument that the Third District improperly "reweighed" the evidence against the Liggett defendants is belied by the record in this action -- there was no such evidence -- and, indeed, by plaintiffs' own brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

The Third District found that the prejudicial impact of the manifest errors at trial was exemplified by the improper verdicts against the Liggett defendants. Liggett Group Inc. v. Engle, 853 So. 2d 434, 466-67 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003)². To the extent there was evidence presented at trial regarding the Liggett defendants, that evidence was exculpatory, showing, among other things, that Liggett did not (i) participate in strategy meetings in the early 1950s attended by other tobacco companies (Exs. 1287, 1850(a); Pl. Br. p.4), at which, plaintiffs argue, a purported industry-wide conspiracy was conceived, (ii) sign or endorse the Frank Statement (Ex. 0018; Tr. 10836), a tobacco industry advertisement concerning smoking and health, which was a centerpiece of plaintiffs' case (Pl. Br. pp. 4-5), or (iii) participate in the creation of or strategy behind industry trade groups, such as the

¹ References to orders and pleadings in the record are abbreviated as: "(Rec. Vol. [Volume], p. [Page])." Factual references to the Reporter's Transcript are abbreviated as: "(Tr. [Page])." References to exhibits in the record are abbreviated as: "(Ex. [Number])." References to plaintiffs' brief on the merits are abbreviated as "(Pl. Br. p. [Page])." For further detail on the background of this case, the Liggett defendants respectfully refer to the Statement of the Case contained in the Combined Brief and the briefs filed by the Liggett defendants in connection with the appeal to the Third District. Copies of the Liggett defendants briefs in the Third District are submitted in the accompanying appendix.

² Liggett is the smallest of the defendant cigarette manufacturers and Brooke is a holding company and the indirect parent of Liggett. (Tr. 13818, 20378-80, 20497-98, 55319).

Tobacco Industry Research Committee ("TIRC") (Tr. 26906-08; Exs. 1850(a), 3312), which plaintiffs contend were vehicles of fraud. (Pl. Br. pp. 5-6)³.

The Phase II-A trial involved the individual claims of three named plaintiffs, none of whom ever purchased or smoked any Liggett-brand cigarette. (See Trial Court Judgment at 3 (Rec. Vol. CCCIV, p. 69485)). The jury in rendering its verdict in this phase ascribed zero percent fault to Liggett as to each of the three named plaintiffs. The verdict form specifically instructed the jury to "include a zero for any Defendant . . . you found not at fault." (Verdict Form Phase II-A, Question 12, p. 16). The trial court nevertheless entered judgment against the Liggett defendants jointly and severally for 100% of the compensatory damages awarded by the jury.

In Phase II-B, six expert witnesses (five of whom were presented by plaintiffs) severely criticized the business practices and conduct of the other tobacco companies while, at the same time, uniformly praising Liggett. (Tr. 51408, 51596-601, 51846, 51854-55, 52004, 52117-18, 52124, 52532-34, 52801-02, 55799-55801). Plaintiffs further argued to the jury during this phase that Liggett

³ No evidence was presented at trial that implicated Brooke in any conduct at all, let alone any wrongful conduct. The only evidence as to Brooke was that Brooke is the indirect parent of Liggett, with no independent operations, assets or income. Nonetheless, the trial court permitted plaintiffs' counsel (over objections) to argue to the jury that Brooke should be held liable for Liggett's conduct. (Tr. 37484-90.)

was worth \$1.8 billion, and should pay a substantial portion of that amount as punitive damages. Liggett's audited financial statements demonstrated that Liggett's net worth is less than \$34 million (Exs. L-4, L-4A), and Brooke's chief executive, Bennett LeBow, testified that a punitive damages award of \$5 to 10 million would cripple the Liggett defendants. (Tr. 55318-36).

The jury returned a verdict awarding \$145 billion in punitive damages, \$790 million of which was against the Liggett defendants -- an amount 23 times Liggett's net worth. (Ex. L-4.) The trial court entered this award as a judgment.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I:</u> The Third District correctly found no competent evidence to support the verdicts against the Liggett defendants. The trial court erroneously permitted the jury to render verdicts as to the Liggett defendants, notwithstanding a complete lack of evidence of any culpable conduct.

<u>POINT II:</u> The Third District correctly found no basis for punitive

damages. The Third District correctly held that the trial court had no basis for allowing the jury to consider punitive damages against the Liggett defendants, much less to enter judgment for punitive damages that exceeded 23 times the net worth of Liggett.

ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs argue that the Third District improperly reevaluated evidence concerning the Liggett defendants and substituted its judgment for that of the jury. (Pl. Br. pp. 36-39). The Third District did no such thing. Rather, the court correctly found the record void of any competent evidence that could support verdicts against the Liggett defendants.⁴ In doing so, the Third District unquestionably applied the proper standard of review. <u>See Castillo v. E.I. DuPont</u> <u>de Nemours & Co., Inc.</u>, 854 So. 2d 1264, 1277 (Fla. 2003) (there must be "competent evidence to support a verdict"); <u>MMH Venture v. Masterpiece Prods.</u> <u>Inc.</u>, 559 So. 2d 314, 316 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) ("an appellate court should override a jury verdict when 'there is no competent substantial evidence which sustains the jury's verdict or, stated in another form, when the verdict is against the manifest weight of the evidence"").

I. The Third District Correctly Found No Competent Evidence To Support The Verdicts Against The Liggett Defendants

The Third District found no evidence in the record which could support the Phase I and Phase II-A verdicts against the Liggett defendants. Thus, for example, the Third District noted that "it is undisputed that the Liggett defendants did not

⁴ In fact, there was <u>no evidence</u> presented at any stage of the trial of any conduct by Brooke, let alone conduct that could support a finding of liability. <u>Supra</u> p. 3, n. 3.

manufacture or sell any of the products that allegedly caused injury to the individual plaintiff representatives" (Liggett, 853 So. 2d at 467), and that they had no involvement in the events and conduct plaintiffs claimed evidenced the supposed tobacco industry conspiracy: "Liggett/Brooke did not participate in the 1950's industry strategy meetings, did not sign or endorse the Frank statement, and was not involved in the creation of the Tobacco Industry Research Committee." Liggett, 853 So. 2d at 466.

Plaintiffs assert that liability against the Liggett defendants for conspiracy could be based on Liggett's membership for limited periods of time in the two tobacco industry trade organizations, the Council for Tobacco Research and the Tobacco Institute. (Pl. Br. p. 37). Membership in trade organizations, however, does not establish knowing and intentional participation in a conspiracy. See Liggett, 853 So. 2d at 467 ("Mere participation in the tobacco industry does not destine a corporation to legal suicide upon the shores of bankruptcy"); In re Asbestos School Lit. (Pfizer Inc.), 46 F.3d 1284, 1290 (3d Cir. 1994) (defendants' joining of trade organization "[u]nquestionably could not rationally be viewed as sufficient to show that [defendant] specifically intended to further any allegedly tortious and constitutionally unprotected activities committed by the [trade organization] or other members"). See also Raimi v. Furlong, 702 So. 2d 1273, 1285 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 717 So. 2d 531 (Fla. 1998) (reversal where

6

evidence was insufficient to prove that defendants "knowingly participated in" an alleged conspiracy).

Plaintiffs further cite the testimony of Brooke's chief executive, Bennett LeBow, as purported evidence that "Liggett and the other tobacco companies had conspired to lie to the public health authorities and the American people on critical issues." (Pl. Br. p. 37.) The testimony referenced by plaintiffs proves nothing of the sort. Although Mr. LeBow testified that in 1997 he saw documents that he believed demonstrated that "the industry" had not disclosed certain information to the public, Mr. LeBow did not identify any specific company (certainly not Liggett) as having misrepresented or concealed any fact. Again, to the contrary, the uncontradicted evidence at trial demonstrated that Liggett did not engage in any purported industry conspiracy or fraud. (Supra pp. 2-3.) Moreover, Mr. LeBow did not specify any fact that purportedly was misrepresented or concealed, and did not specify when (even in which decade) any purported misrepresentation or concealment occurred. Under Florida law, without such particulars, plaintiffs could not even sufficiently plead, much less prove, a fraud claim. See Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.120(b).⁵

⁵ Contrary to Plaintiffs' misleading suggestion (Pl. Br. p. 37), Mr. LeBow was not asked whether he agreed with the jury's verdicts in Phases I and II-A. Rather, Mr. LeBow was asked during the punitive damages phase whether Liggett had "gotten the jury's message," to which had gotten the message even before the jury did. (Tr. 55348). That Mr. LeBow did not disagree with the jury which had, at that

Plaintiffs further challenge the Third District's ruling that the Liggett defendants were not liable to the three named plaintiffs (none of whom ever had smoked a Liggett product). (Pl. Br. p. 38.) Indisputably, there was no evidence (and plaintiffs cite none) that named plaintiffs Mary Farnan and Angie Della Vecchia ever saw or heard an advertisement or statement of any kind attributable to Liggett. As to named plaintiff Frank Amodeo, his testimony that 50-year old advertisements (with no claims concerning health or other effects on smokers) somehow "kept [him] smoking" other companies' cigarettes is insufficient to sustain liability against Liggett. No evidence indicates that these advertisements contained any statement of fact, let alone a knowingly false statement of fact, by Liggett. Moreover, that Amodeo indisputably never purchased or used a Liggett product means that his testimony cannot support a finding of reliance against Liggett.⁶

point, rendered a zero verdict with regard to Liggett, cannot be interpreted as an admission that Liggett should be held liablehe responded that Liggett -- which had long been cooperating with states' Attorneys General and public health authorities -- had gotten the message even before the jury did. (Tr 55348). That Mr. LeBow did not disagree with the jury which had, at that point, rendered a zero verdict with regard to Liggett, cannot be interpreted as an admission that Liggett should be held liable.

⁶ Plaintiffs' suggestion that counsel for the Liggett defendants during closing arguments for Phase II-A somehow admitted that the named Plaintiffs' fraud claims were viable notwithstanding the fact that they never purchased or smoked Liggett cigarettes is plainly baseless. Indeed, counsel's argument was to the opposite effect: "These [Liggett] ads were so influential and meaningful to Mr. Amodeo that they didn't cause him to buy a single pack of Chesterfield in his life, not for a nickel, not for a dime, not for nothing. For this reason, you would find that Mr.

The Third District also correctly determined that the judgment against the Liggett defendants was inconsistent with the jury's findings in the Phase II-A verdict form that they were zero percent at fault. Liggett, 853 So. 2d at 466 n.46. The jury's finding of zero percent fault as to each of the three named plaintiffs is clearly at odds with the Liggett defendants being held jointly and severally liable for full compensatory damages. Moreover, the very text of the Phase II-A verdict form reflects that the jurors had every reason to believe that judgment would be entered in favor of any defendant to which they ascribed zero percent fault. (Supra p. 3).

II. The Third District Correctly Found No Basis For Punitive Damages Against The Liggett Defendants

The Third District ruled that because there was no basis for the jury's Phase I and Phase II-A findings regarding Liggett, "the claims against the Liggett defendants clearly should not have proceeded to the punitive damages phase." (853 So. 2d at 467 n.47.) Plaintiffs nonetheless suggest that the Third District reversed the punitive damages award against the Liggett defendants based on evidence at trial of responsible conduct by Liggett. (Pl. Br. p. 38). Plaintiffs' characterization of the Third District's ruling, even if correct, does not save the punitive damages verdict. Evidence of responsible conduct -- such as the

Amodeo did not rely on Liggett representations." (Tr. 49896.)

uniformly positive testimony concerning the Liggett defendants given by plaintiffs' own punitive damage expert witnesses -- is in fact precisely the kind of evidence that precludes punitive damages. <u>See American Cyanamid v. Roy</u>, 498 So. 2d 859, 862 (Fla. 1987) (punitive damages award reversed as "[t]he evidence . . . indicates a high level of conscientiousness and concern rather than that 'entire want of care which would raise the presumption of a conscious indifference to the consequences'") (quoting <u>White Construction Co., Inc. v. Dupont</u>, 455 So. 2d 1026, 1029 (Fla. 1984).

Plaintiffs offer no justification under the facts or law for the \$790 million bankrupting punitive damages award against the Liggett defendants. Instead, plaintiffs merely refer to the conclusory and incompetent testimony of their so-called financial expert that the Liggett defendants can afford to pay such an award. (Pl. Br. pp. 38-39).⁷ The only competent evidence submitted at trial --

⁷ The only financial evidence plaintiffs presented as to the Liggett defendants was the testimony of George Mundstock. Mundstock agreed that Liggett's business was on a "completely different planet" from that of the other companies, and acknowledged that his "valuation" of Liggett was invalid. (Tr. 53237- 61). Mundstock further offered no foundation for his conclusion that the Liggett defendants could actually pay the enormous sums that he derived from his novel and unsupported method. His testimony therefore cannot support the judgment. See Brito v. County of Palm Beach, 753 So. 2d 109, 113-14 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), rev. denied, 735 So. 2d 1283 (Fla. 1999); Young Chin v. City of Homestead, 597 So. 2d 879, 882 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992); Dempsey v. Shell Oil Co., 589 So. 2d 373, 380 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

which reveals, among other things, that the award was 23 times Liggett's net worth -- demonstrated this to be plainly false. (Supra p. 4).⁸

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons and those stated in the Brief On The Merits Of All Respondents Other Than Liggett And Brooke, the Court should approve the Third District's decision. Alternatively, the Court should decline jurisdiction.

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